

Journal of Chromatography B, 747 (2000) 33-48

JOURNAL OF CHROMATOGRAPHY B

www.elsevier.com/locate/chromb

Review

Clinical chemistry of serotonin and metabolites

Ido P. Kema^{a,*}, Elisabeth G.E. de Vries^b, Frits A.J. Muskiet^a

^aDepartment of Pathology and Laboratory Medicine, University Hospital Groningen, P.O. Box 30001, 9700 RB Groningen, The Netherlands

^bDepartment of Medical Oncology, University Hospital Groningen, P.O. Box 30001, 9700 RB Groningen, The Netherlands

Abstract

Analyses of serotonin and other 5-hydroxyindoles, such as its precursor 5-hydroxytryptophan and major metabolite 5-hydroxyindoleacetic acid (5-HIAA), are indispensable for the elucidation of their (patho)physiological roles. In clinical chemistry attention is mainly focused on the diagnosis and follow-up of carcinoid tumours. For this most laboratories routinely measure urinary 5-HIAA. More recently, measurements of serotonin in platelets and urine have been advocated. Platelet serotonin may be the most sensitive indole marker for the detection of carcinoid tumours that secrete only small amounts of serotonin and/or its precursor 5-hydroxytryptophan. Although several chromatographic techniques have emerged for the analysis of tryptophan-related indoles, HPLC with either electrochemical or fluorometric detection have become the methods of choice for their quantification. HPLC-based methods combine selectivity, sensitivity and high precision, and enable the simultaneous investigation of several metabolically related indoles. This review aims to place the analysis of indoles in biological matrices in a biochemical, physiological and clinical perspective and highlights several important steps in their chromatographic analysis and quantification. © 2000 Elsevier Science B.V. All rights reserved.

Keywords: Reviews; Serotonin; 5-Hydroxytryptophan; 5-Hydroxyindoleacetic acid

Contents

1.	Introduction	34
2.	Biochemistry	34
	2.1. Biosynthesis	34
	2.2. Regulation of synthesis	34
	2.3. Metabolism	35
	2.4. Peripheral serotonin	36
	2.5. Platelet uptake and storage	36
	2.6. Liver and lung	37
3.	Physiology	37
4.	Pathophysiology	37
	4.1. Carcinoid tumours	38
5.	Analysis	38
	5.1. Preanalytical considerations	39
	5.2. Preparation of platelet-poor plasma	40
	5.3. Extraction and deproteinisation	41

0378-4347/00/\$ – see front matter @ 2000 Elsevier Science B.V. All rights reserved. PII: \$0378-4347(00)00341-8

^{*}Corresponding author.

5.4. HPLC separation and detection	41
5.5. Biological variation, interpretation of data	45
6. Concluding remarks	45
References	46

1. Introduction

Serotonin (5-hydroxytryptamine, 5-HT) is a heterocyclic amine that was first isolated by Ersparmer and Vialli in 1937. The source was enterochromaffin cells originating from the gastric and intestinal mucosa. It was characterised by its ability to cause smooth muscle contraction and named enteramine [1]. In the same period Rapport et al., in search of a humoral agent responsible for hypertension, isolated and characterised a substance from serum that caused vasoconstriction and named it serotonin [2]. After purification, structure elucidation and chemical synthesis enteramine was found to be identical to serotonin [3].

Serotonin proved ubiquitously distributed in nature. In plants it was found in edible fruits, vegetables and nuts, whereas in the animal kingdom it was demonstrated in both invertebrates and vertebrates. Important depots in mammals were enterochromaffin cells in the gastrointestinal mucosa, serotonergic neurones of the brain, pineal gland and platelets [4,5]. Compared with other biogenic amines, e.g., catecholamines and histamine, serotonin has only recently been discovered. Although studies on its physiological role elucidated some of its functions, the significance of its presence in most tissues is still the subject of intensive investigation. Such investigations would not have been possible without the development of accurate, precise and sensitive methods for the analyses of serotonin and its metabolites in biological matrices. This review gives a brief oversight of the present knowledge on the biochemistry, physiology, pathophysiology and current analytical methods of serotonin and its metabolites from the perspective of clinical chemistry.

2. Biochemistry

2.1. Biosynthesis

Serotonin is an indolic compound that is synthesised from the essential amino acid tryptophan (Fig. 1). Biosynthesis of serotonin in the human body represents only a minor metabolic route for tryptophan. Under normal conditions it accounts for not more than 2% of ingested tryptophan, leading to a daily production of about 10 mg serotonin. The major part of tryptophan is utilised for protein synthesis, whereas its major catabolic route is via kynurenine and 3-hydroxyanthranilic acid [6,7].

Hydroxylation of tryptophan to 5-hydroxytryptophan (5-HTP) by tryptophan hydroxylase (EC 1.14.16.4) is the first and rate limiting step in serotonin synthesis. Antibodies against tryptophan hydroxylase demonstrated its presence in several tissues, including enterochromaffin cells of the gastrointestinal tract, serotonergic neurones of the brain, and pineal gland [7]. Although platelets have been reported to contain low tryptophan hydroxylase activity their high serotonin contents originates from enterochromaffin cells of the gastrointestinal tract [8].

Formation of serotonin occurs by decarboxylation of 5-HTP. The reaction is catalyzed by aromatic-Lamino acid decarboxylase (AADC; EC 4.1.1.28) and uses pyridoxal-5-phosphate (the active form of vitamin B_6) as coenzyme. The enzyme has been detected in neoplastic tissues such as carcinoid tumours and phaeochromocytoma [9,10]. Specific types of carcinoid neoplasms may occasionally lack AADC, which gives rise to increased circulating and urinary levels of tumour-derived 5-HTP, instead of serotonin [11,12].

2.2. Regulation of synthesis

Serotonin synthesis rate is obviously dependent on tryptophan hydroxylase and AADC activities, and tryptophan availability. Since AADC activity is about 75-times higher than that of tryptophan hydroxylase, 5-HTP formation is considered to be the rate limiting step [13]. Availability of tryptophan also influences serotonin synthesis rate. High dietary



Fig. 1. Biosynthetic and degradative routes in the metabolism of serotonin. Abbreviations: AADC, aromatic-L-amino acid decarboxylase; Alc DH, alcoholdehydrogenase; Ald DH, aldehydedehydrogenase; HIOMT, hydroxyindol-*O*-methyl transferase; MAO, monoamine oxidase; *N*-Ac-5-HT, *N*-acetyl-5-hydroxytryptamine; *N*-AC-5-MT, *N*-acetyl-5-methoxytryptamine, melatonin; TRP, tryptophan; TRP Hydr, tryptophan hydroxylase; 5-HIAA, 5-hydroxyindoleacetic acid; 5-HT, serotonin, 5-hydroxytryptamine; 5-HT, 5-hydroxytryptophol; 5-HTP, 5-hydroxytryptophan.

intakes increase tissue serotonin contents, whereas tryptophan deficient diets cause reduced levels [14,15].

Processes that control plasma tryptophan uptake by peripheral cells have not fully been clarified as yet. Because of its amphipathic nature circulating tryptophan is partially bound to plasma albumin. Its uptake in brain is known to be dependent on the plasma free tryptophan concentration [16]. Consequently, processes that influence the equilibrium between free and protein-bound forms of plasma tryptophan (e.g., free fatty acids, certain drugs) modify its availability for uptake in brain and thereby affect serotonin synthesis rate [7,17]. Tryptophan uptake in brain cells is regulated by two saturable systems with high- and low-tryptophan affinities, respectively [18].

Serotonin synthesis in brain is also regulated by mechanisms that activate or inhibit tryptophan hydroxylase. Calcium-induced phosphorylation renders the enzyme active, whereas an intra-neuronal serotonin pool inhibits it via negative feedback. Fluctuations in tetrahydrobiopterin concentrations may also be involved in the control of tryptophan hydroxylation activity [13].

2.3. Metabolism

Serotonin is metabolized via oxidative deamination (monoamine oxidase; MAO), conjugation with sulfuric and glucuronic acids, *N*-acetylation, 5-*O*methylation and their combinations (Fig. 1). The enzymes are differently distributed among the various organs.

The majority of serotonin is metabolized by the flavoprotein MAO (EC 1.4.3.4). This enzyme is mainly located in mitochondria and catalyses oxidative deamination of several monoamines to their corresponding aldehydes, ammonia and hydrogen peroxide. At least two forms of MAO, differing in substrate affinities and inhibitors, are known. MAO-A has highest affinity for serotonin and norepinephrine, whereas MAO-B is more active in deaminating benzylamine and phenylethylamine [19].

5-Hydroxyindoleacetaldehyde, the product of oxidative deamination of serotonin, can either be oxidised to 5-hydroxyindoleacetic acid (5-HIAA) or reduced to 5-hydroxytryptophol. The former reaction is quantitative most important and is catalyzed by aldehyde dehydrogenase (EC 1.2.1.3) with NAD as coenzyme. Aldehyde dehydrogenase has been detected in many tissues, including brain and liver [20,19]. The enzyme also catalyses oxidation of catecholamine aldehyde intermediates to their corresponding acidic metabolites. Reduction of 5-hydroxyindoleacetaldehyde to 5-hydroxytryptophol is catalyzed by aldehyde reductase (EC 1.1.1.1). This enzyme uses NADH as coenzyme. Conversion of an intermediate aldehyde to the corresponding alcohol also takes place in catecholamine metabolism [19]. Formation of 5-hydroxytryptophol represents a minor route of serotonin metabolism. Under normal conditions urinary 5-hydroxytryptophol accounts for about 1% of serotonin turnover. In alcoholism and (other) liver pathology the proportion of 5-hydroxytryptophol may considerably increase by a metabolic shift from 5-HIAA to 5-hydroxytryptophol [21,22].

Conjugation of serotonin with sulfuric acid (formation of serotonin-*O*-sulfate) or glucuronic acid (serotonin-*O*-glucuronide) represents a minor metabolic pathway [7]. Both types of conjugates have been detected in urine of healthy subjects and patients with carcinoid tumours [23–26]. Serotonin and 5-HIAA are predominantly excreted in the free form, whereas 5-hydroxytryptophol is mainly excreted as conjugate [7,22]. Serotonin-containing foods can substantially increase urinary excretion of serotonin conjugates [27].

Two highly specific enzymes that subsequently catalyse serotonin *N*-acetylation and 5-*O*-methylation are involved in the synthesis of melatonin (5-*O*-methyl-*N*-acetylserotonin) in the pineal gland. Melatonin is a hormone implicated in the physiology of circadian rhythm, reproductive development and behaviour [28,29]. Serotonin-*N*-acetyltransferase has been found in both brain and liver. In the pineal gland it shows typical circadian rhythmicity that

causes considerably higher plasma melatonin levels at night [30]. Hydroxyindole-*O*-methyltransferase (EC 2.1.1.4) catalyses the second step in melatonin formation. This enzyme gives rise to 5-*O*-methylation of *N*-acetylserotonin with *S*-adenosylmethionine as methyl donor [31].

2.4. Peripheral serotonin

The majority of serotonin is found in enterochromaffin cells of the gastrointestinal tract. In these structures it accounts for approximately 80% of total body serotonin content [32,33]. Serotonin can be released from these cells by stimulation with acetylcholine, noradrenergic nerve stimulation, increased intra-luminal pressure and a decline of intestinal pH. Released serotonin can be detected in the intestinal lumen, portal blood and systemic circulation [33]. Serotonin is a potent vasoactive amine. In the circulation it is almost entirely confined to platelets and thereby rendered functionally inactive. Since elevated plasma serotonin concentrations may be hazardous, several rapid clearance mechanisms have evolved. Platelets possess an active serotonin uptake system, the liver catabolises serotonin, pulmonary endothelial cells take up serotonin and specific macromolecules bind free serotonin.

2.5. Platelet uptake and storage

Circulating plasma serotonin is taken up by platelets mainly by an active transport mechanism [8,34]. The majority of platelet serotonin originates from enterochromaffin cells, and is accumulated during the platelet's life cycle [35]. Platelet serotonin content is elevated in patients with serotonin-secreting carcinoid tumours [12,36] and during long-term serotonin ingestion [37]. It is unaffected by shortterm consumption of serotonin-rich foods [27]. Platelet serotonin half life is about 4.2 days, which approximately equals that of platelets [37,38]. In platelets, serotonin is stored in dense granules. The platelet membrane contains two types of serotonin binding sites. One site mediates uptake, whereas the other causes platelet aggregation [39]. Apart from active uptake a passive uptake process has been noted. Passive uptake occurs at high extracellular serotonin concentrations and is proportional to serotonin levels. It may play a role in patients with serotonin-secreting carcinoid tumours [40,36].

Compared with inactivation in liver and lung, platelet serotonin uptake is a relatively slow process. Animal experiments showed that after 60–120 s approximately 50% of non-protein bound plasma serotonin is taken up by platelets [41]. Despite the slowness of the uptake process, long-term uptake by platelets contributes significantly to overall clearance of circulating non-protein bound plasma serotonin.

2.6. Liver and lung

The liver is capable of removing substantial amounts of plasma serotonin, with subsequent formation of 5-HIAA. From animal studies it is estimated that serotonin removal between portal and hepatic veins amounts to about 30%. Following continuous serotonin infusion, its metabolic clearance by the liver can increase to up to 80% [42,41]. Such studies mimic the catabolic adaptation that occurs during increased intestinal serotonin release, such as in patients with ileum carcinoid tumours. In patients with serotonin-releasing metastases in the liver, hepatic serotonin inactivation does not necessarily compensate for the released amounts, since most of it is directly secreted in the effluent vascular system. Consequently, these patient may have high plasma serotonin concentrations in hepatic veins [43]. Long-term exposure of the heart may lead to endocardial fibrosis, primarily of the right side [44].

Pulmonar removal of circulating plasma serotonin is a very rapid and efficient process. Over 90% of intravenously injected or endogenously released serotonin is removed within a single transpulmonar passage. The primary metabolite of serotonin captured in endothelial cells of the lungs is 5-HIAA. MAO-A inhibitors prevent oxidative deamination of serotonin in the lungs, but do not affect its pulmonary removal rate. Thus, uptake of serotonin in endothelial cells, rather than intra-endothelial catabolism, is the rate limiting step in its overall pulmonar removal [45].

3. Physiology

Serotonin is involved in a variety of physiological processes, including smooth muscle contraction,

blood pressure regulation and both peripheral and central nervous system neurotransmission. Its exact role in most of these processes is still to be elucidated [4,5]. Synthesis occurs in brain, spinal cord, enterochromaffin cells of the gastrointestinal tract, bronchi, thyroid, pancreas and thymus. Circulating serotonin does not enter the brain by crossing the blood-brain barrier. In the central nervous system it acts as a neurotransmitter-neuromodulator that is implicated in sleep pattern regulation, appetite control, sexual activity, aggression and drive (a driven tendency or instinct, especially of sexual or aggressive origin) [46]. Central nervous system serotonin exerts its actions in concert with other neurotransmitters [5,47]. In the periphery serotonin acts as a vasoconstrictor and proaggregator when released from aggregating platelets, as a neurotransmitter in the enteric plexuses of the gut and as an autocrine hormone when released from enterochromaffin cells from the gut, pancreas and elsewhere [5,33]. Its precise function in the gastrointestinal tract is not fully understood [48].

Serotonergic receptors are found throughout the body, and are composed of at least three distinct types of molecular structures: (1) guanine nucleotide-binding protein-coupled receptors that are subdivided into the 5-HT₁₋ (5-HT_{1A}, 5-HT_{1B}, 5-HT_{1D}, 5-HT_{1E}) and 5-HT₂₋ (5-HT₂, 5-HT_{1C}) families, (2) ligand-gated ion channels (5-HT₃) and (3) transporters (5-HT uptake site) [49]. Receptors of the 5-HT₁ family are found in several areas of the brain and blood vessels, those of the 5-HT₂ family in platelets, brain and vascular smooth muscle, and those of the 5-HT₃ family in peripheral efferent and afferent autonomic neurones [5].

4. Pathophysiology

Abnormalities of serotonin-related processes give rise to various pathological conditions. Aberrations in its central nervous system function are thought to be involved in anorexia, anxiety, depression and schizophrenia, whereas degeneration of serotonergic neurones have been noted in Alzheimer's and Parkinson's diseases [5,17,47,50]. Peripheral aberrations in serotonin-related processes have been implicated in drug-induced emesis, hypertension, migraine, genesis of cardiac arrhythmias, Raynaud's disease, fibrotic syndromes and some symptoms of the carcinoid syndrome [5,44,51,52]. The quantitatively most pronounced aberration in serotonin production and metabolism is encountered in patients with carcinoid tumours.

4.1. Carcinoid tumours

Carcinoid tumours are APUD-omas (characterised by amine precursor uptake and decarboxylation) that arise from enterochromaffin cells. Embryologically, these cells are derived from the primitive neuronal ectoderm [53-55]. Foregut carcinoids arise from the respiratory tract, pancreas, stomach and duodenum; midgut carcinoids from ileum and appendix; and hindgut carcinoids from left colon and rectum [56]. The tumours appear most frequently in midgut (about 70% of cases) and to a lesser extent in foreand hindguts (13% and 17%, respectively). Depending on origin and size of the primary tumour, distant metastases (usually to liver) can occur. The predilection to deliver metastases amounts to 14-50, 2-60 and 3% for fore-, mid- and hindgut carcinoids, respectively [57]. Carcinoid tumours have been reported to occur in all age groups, but appear most frequently in adults aged 60-70 years [58].

The endocrine manifestation of enterochromaffin cell neoplasm is the carcinoid syndrome. Its occurrence and severity is directly related to tumour bulk in an area that drains into the systemic circulation [55]. Carcinoid syndrome is characterised by cutaneous flushing, diarrhoea, valvular lesions of the right side of the heart, and bronchoconstriction [59,60,44]. Notably midgut carcinoids with distant metastases and bronchus carcinoids are known to cause the syndrome. Depending on tissue origin and presence of metastases, these tumours can cause excessive synthesis, storage and release of both peptides and biogenic amines. Serotonin is the most prominent biogenic amine. Production of catecholamines (notably dopamine) and histamine [61] has also been reported [62-64]. Characteristically, midgut carcinoid tumours readily produce and secrete serotonin [43,65]. Some foregut carcinoids are AAD-C-deficient and may therefore secrete 5-HTP and to a lesser extent serotonin [11,12,66]. Carcinoid tumours from hindgut usually do not secrete substantial amounts of serotonin [57,67,36]. Serotonin plays an important role in the aetiology of some symptoms of the carcinoid syndrome, although other mediators are also implicated [5]. Carcinoid patients may convert as much as 60% of dietary tryptophan to serotonin. Long-term augmentation of the serotonin biosynthetic pathway may result in serious reduction of the free-tryptophan body pool, causing niacin deficiency and subsequent development of pellagra-like symptoms [67].

5. Analysis

A wide variety of analytical methods has been used for the qualitative and quantitative determination of serotonin in blood. Early methods made use of bioassays by taking advantage of its smooth muscle contractile properties [7].

All 5-hydroxyindoles fluoresce at neutral pH at an absorbance wavelength of 300 nm with an emission wavelength of 340 nm, which enables quantitation by fluorescence detection [68,69]. Fluorometric methods for the determination of serotonin in biological matrices are, however, rather aspecific and have to be preceded by its separation from interfering compounds. For this solvent extraction, ionexchange chromatography and gel filtration have been used [7]. Detection limits of approximately 1 nmol can be reached and lower limits (50 pmol) are feasible using o-phtaldialdehyde or ninhydrin [70]. Rapid developments in analytical techniques founded the introduction of more specific and precise methods. Employing thin-layer chromatography [71], radio immunoassay [72,73], enzyme immunoassay [74], gas chromatography [75], gas chromatographymass spectrometry [76-79], and high-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) with ultraviolet [80], fluorometric [68,69,81], electrochemical [82] and mass spectrometric detection [83], they aim at measurement of either single indoles or a selection of tryptophan-derived indoles (profiling methods). Among these methods, HPLC outnumbers the others by far.

The chromatography of urinary indole derivatives has previously been reviewed by Van Haard and Pavel [84]. More recently, Deacon published an extensive review on the measurement of 5-HIAA in urine [85]. From these publications it is obvious that HPLC with either fluorometric or electrochemical detection gradually replaces less specific colorimetric methods in clinical chemical laboratories. HPLCbased methods combine selectivity, sensitivity and high precision, and enable the simultaneous investigation of several metabolically related indoles. Compared with other chromatographic techniques they necessitate only minimal sample prepurification. Although analytical innovation is gradually introducing techniques like capillary zone electrophoresis [86-88] and liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry in specialised clinical chemical laboratories [89], their application in the analysis of indoles has been limited up to now. Automation of HPLC analyses, using direct injection techniques in combination with column switching, is an emerging technique that potentially offers the possibility of combining sample prepurification and analysis, and thereby reduce the analytical turnaround time [82.90-94].

Analyses of serotonin and other 5-hydroxyindoles, such as its precursor 5-HTP and major metabolite 5-HIAA, are indispensable for the elucidation of their (patho)physiological roles. In clinical chemistry attention is mainly focused on the diagnosis and follow-up of carcinoid tumours. For this most laboratories routinely measure urinary 5-HIAA [43,57]. More recently, measurements of serotonin in platelets and urine have been advocated [12,36]. Platelet serotonin may be the most sensitive parameter for the detection of carcinoid tumours that secrete only small amounts of serotonin and/or its precursor 5-HTP [36]. Table 1 summarises the concentrations of some clinically relevant indoles as previously reported in the literature.

5.1. Preanalytical considerations

The analysis of indoles in biological samples is confounded by their sensitivity to light, oxygen and high or low pH. Consequently, special precautions have to be taken during sample collection, sample prepurification and analysis [7,84,85]. For their circumvention, the following preventive measures have been advised: filtering or exclusion of (sun-)light, immediate refrigeration after sample collection, prevention of repeated thawing and freezing, acidification (pH>2), and addition of antioxidants such as sodium metabisulfite, ascorbic acid, EDTA or L-cysteine.

Several antioxidant mixtures have been investigated for their ability to stabilise serotonin and its metabolites. Thorre et al. [95] found that the stability of serotonin and 5-HIAA was poor in acidic medium that merely contains Na₂EDTA. Significant improvement was noticed upon the addition of L-cysteine and ascorbic acid. It was previously noticed that the ability of Na₂EDTA to complex metal traces diminishes at pH values below 5. Also the ability of ascorbic acid to act as an antioxidant reduces at lower pH, since protonation diminishes its ability to become oxidised. Indolamines are less stable at high or very low pH. Thorre et al. considered pH 3.2 in combination with the above-mentioned antioxidants optimal. Conversion of oxyhaemoglobin to carboxyhaemoglobin prior to acid protein precipitation prevents serotonin oxidation [96]. An important factor that has to be taken into account in the choice of antioxidants for analyte preservation is their compatibility with the subsequent analytical procedure. Several antioxidants interfere with electro-

Table 1					
Concentrations of th	ryptophan-related	indoles in	n several	biological	matrices

••		•		
	Tryptophan	5-HTP	5-HT	5-HIAA
Urine	73-330 µmol/24 h [112]	<0.7 µmol/24 h [12]	340-950 nmol/24 h [112]	2-50 µmol/24 h [138]
Platelet-rich plasma			3.81±0.87 nmol/109 platelets [100]	
Platelet-poor plasma	61±5 µmol/1 (total)		2.8±1.4 nmol/1 [101]	11.0±0.5 nmol/1 [116]
	6.1±0.7 μmol/1 (free) [115]			
CSF	1257-2757 nmol/l [137]	5.3-10.8 nmol/1 [137]	5.7-12.0 nmol/1 [137]	80.8-143.2 nmol/1 [137]

^a Abbreviations: CSF: cerebrospinal fluid; 5-HTP: 5-hydroxytryptophan; 5-HIAA: 5-hydroxyindoleacetic acid. Unless otherwise stated, levels of non-conjugated compounds are given. Data are given as ranges or as mean±SD, references in parentheses.

chemical detection. The presence of haemoglobin and oxygen in whole blood alters the recovery of serotonin during deproteinisation with concentrated perchloric acid. Addition of ascorbic acid prior to deproteinisation resulted in an improved recovery in methods using fluorometric detection, but caused interference in amperometric methods [97]. Pussard et al. noted that addition of sodium borohydride to whole blood prior to perchloric acid protein precipitation prevents oxidation of serotonin, without causing subsequent chromatographic interferences using amperometric detection [97].

There has been some confusion regarding the nomenclature of the different serotonin pools [81]. Notably the difference between whole-blood, plasma, platelet-rich plasma and platelet-poor plasma should be taken into account when data are reported [98,99]. The vast majority (>95%) of whole blood serotonin is confined to platelets, but a distinct extracellular pool of freely circulating serotonin has also been noted. Values have been reported for whole blood, platelet-rich plasma, platelet pellets, platelet-poor plasma and blood (micro)dialysate and the data have been expressed in pmol/mg plasma protein, nmol/l, and nmol/10⁹ platelets [12,97,100]. It was noted [97] that in hypertensive patients, whole blood serotonin concentrations, expressed in nmol/l, were significantly higher while standing compared with the supine position. In contrast, platelet serotonin concentrations were similar in both positions. The difference appeared to be due to the observation that platelet counts increase substantially from the supine to standing position. Correction for platelet numbers gave rise to similar whole blood concentrations. It is obvious that results of whole blood serotonin and platelet-rich plasma serotonin when expressed in terms of protein concentration or volume do not allow correction for variation in platelet counts and are therefore less meaningful for intra- or interindividual comparisons.

5.2. Preparation of platelet-poor plasma

There has been controversy regarding an accurate manner to assess serotonin concentrations in plateletpoor plasma. The existence of a genuine extracellular serotonin pool was questioned, since the measured

concentrations might as well derive from activation of platelets during the preanalytical procedure [98]. Marshall and Leitch noted that for this two factors have to be taken into consideration: at no stage before obtaining cell-free plasma should the sample be frozen, and also the length and strength of centrifugation of whole blood or platelet-rich plasma should be such that it is rendered cell free [98]. Middelkoop et al. [101] investigated the influence of several types of anticoagulants, the influence of the sampling method, and the influence of collecting the first or second 10 ml volume. Serotonin concentrations in platelet-poor plasma prepared from blood that was anticoagulated with citrate or with citrate plus aggregation inhibitors were about two times higher compared with platelet-poor plasma prepared from K₂-EDTA anticoagulated blood. Collection by an evacuated and non-evacuated blood sampling technique, or taking the first or second 10 ml blood sample had no effect. They found that K₃-EDTA gave the best results. Picard et al. [102] noticed a significant effect of centrifugation on the concentration of serotonin in platelet-poor plasma. They centrifuged platelet-rich plasma for 15 min at 4°C and speeds ranging from 1000 up to 70 000 g. The concentration of serotonin in the supernatant was found to be lowest at 6000 g. Reducing or increasing the centrifugal force resulted in higher platelet-poor plasma serotonin values due to incomplete platelet sedimentation or platelet damage, respectively. Takkenberg et al. [93] also noted that the concentration of serotonin in plasma and the number of platelets decreased with increasing centrifugal speed, albeit at lower centrifugal forces than reported by Picard et al. A stable platelet-poor plasma serotonin concentration and no detectable platelet counts were found at a centrifugal force above 500 g and a centrifugal force of 900 g was considered optimal to prevent brake effects after centrifugation [93]. A relatively new approach to determine the circulating extraplatelet serotonin pool has been illustrated by Paez and co-workers [103,104]. They measured circulating free plasma serotonin with the technique of venous microdialysis to reduce the probability of platelet rupture and the concomitant release of serotonin during blood collection. Their results proved in the lower range of previously reported data obtained by venous puncture. It was shown that microdialysis is an efficient alternative method to monitor plateletfree plasma serotonin.

5.3. Extraction and deproteinisation

Protein-containing matrices such as whole blood, plasma and tissue homogenates require prepurification prior to analysis. Tryptophan-related indoles differ considerably with respect to functional groups and consequently different strategies such as solvent partition and ion-exchange have been applied. Solvent extraction was one of the first methods that was used for the extraction of serotonin. In this procedure tissue was homogenised in 0.1 mol/l hydrochloric acid and centrifuged. The pH of the supernatant was adjusted to 10 and the solution was saturated with sodium chloride. Extraction and back-extraction of serotonin was done with *n*-butanol and dilute acid, respectively [105]. Picard et al. [102] described a similar procedure for the extraction of serotonin from platelet-poor and platelet-rich plasma. Samples that were stored in a solution containing antioxidants, were adjusted to pH 11 using a buffer of sodium hydroxide, glycine, and sodium chloride. Extraction and back-extraction were performed in chloroform-1-pentanol (60:20, v/v) and 0.1 mol/l hydrochloric acid. For organic solvent extraction several other fluids such as ethyl acetate, hexane and chloroform were investigated with extraction recoveries ranging from 0 to 90%. The extraction procedure was compatible with subsequent analysis by HPLC with electrochemical detection.

Serotonin is also isolated by the use of weak cation-exchange resins such as BioRex 70 and Amberlite CG-50, or strong cation-exchange resins such as Dowex 50 [7,82]. Kwarts et al. [106] described a method using Amberlite CG-50 as cation-exchange resin. In this procedure, either platelet-rich plasma, platelet-poor plasma, serum, urine or cerebrospinal fluid were mixed with an ammonium acetate buffer, pH 7.5. Samples were subsequently applied to Amberlite CG-50 columns, and washed with the ammonium acetate buffer and 0.01 mol/l acetic acid. Elution was done with 1.0mol/l acetic acid that contained ascorbic acid, followed by HPLC with fluorometric detection. This method has in our hands over a period of 20 years found to be a reproducible and robust procedure for

serotonin extraction from different protein-containing matrices. This prepurification procedure has also been employed in combination with electrochemical detection [107]. Solutions of high ionic strength may cause poor absorption of serotonin due to poor performance of Amberlite CG-50 at high salt concentrations. Selective elution of the strong cationexchange resin Dowex 50 can be used for the simultaneous isolation of 5-HTP, serotonin and 5-HIAA [7,82]. For this application several other solidphase extraction procedures have been developed, employing porous polystyrene polymer [108], Sep-Pak C₁₈ [109,110] or protein-coated ODS [111]. We used C₁₈ reversed-phase extraction columns in combination with octane sulfonic acid for the extraction of indoles from protein-containing matrices such as plasma and tissue homogenate (Fig. 2) [112]. Protein elimination via precipitation, followed by filtration, centrifugation, or on-line enrichment is one of the most frequently employed methods for the purification of samples prior to indole profiling. Precipitation is usually done by perchloric acid or trichloroacetic acid [97,113-115]. Others have used ultrafiltration to remove proteins [116]. The use of antioxidants is necessary to prevent oxidation of indoles at low pH during purification, as outlined before. A more contemporary version of the gravity fed solid-phase extraction is in-line solid-phase extraction. This technique makes use of column switching for automated analyte extraction and concentration. Several applications have been described for the automated analysis of serotonin or related indoles [82,90-94]. The choice of extraction procedures depends on factors such as sample matrix, analyte concentrations, the ability to combine it with the HPLC and detection systems, and whether one or more components are to be analysed.

5.4. HPLC separation and detection

When screening the literature for HPLC analyses of indole derivatives, its becomes apparent that in broad outlines a single stationary phase, a limited number of mobile phase solvents and two detection systems are being used [84]. Already one of the first publications dealt with optimisation of the chromatographic conditions for the simultaneous determination of six indoles, including three hydroxyindoles,



Peak identity:

- 1: 5-hydroxytryptophan (5HTP)
- 2: tryptophan (TRP)
- 3: 5-hydroxyindole-3-acetic acid (5-HIAA)
- 4: 5-hydroxytryptophol (5-HTOL)
- 5: N-acetyl-5-hydroxytryptamine (NAS)
- 6: 5-methoxytryptophan (5-MTP)
- 7: 5-hydroxytryptamine (serotonin, 5-HT)
- 8: indole-3-acetic acid (IAA)
- 9: tryptophol (TOL)
- 10: melatonin (N-acetyl-5-methoxytryptamine, MEL)
- 11: tryptamine (TAM)







I.P. Kema et al. / J. Chromatogr. B 747 (2000) 33-48

in deproteinised urine samples [117]. Since then many publications have reported optimisation of chromatographic conditions as adapting to specific requirements. The physiochemical characteristics of the four tryptophan-related indoles allow predictions regarding their chromatographic behaviours under different chromatographic conditions. Important factors for the modification of chromatographic behaviour are stationary phase and composition of the mobile phase. Mailman and Kilts [118] investigated the influence of the mobile phase composition, such as ion pair reagent, organic modifier content and pH. Experiments were performed with an octadecyl (C_{18}) reversed-phase column, which is the most commonly used packing material for these applications. As was to be expected, the effects of mobile phase pH on the capacity factors for 5-HTP, serotonin and 5-HIAA were dependent on their degree of ionisation at a given pH. An increase of mobile phase pH relative to the pK_a of 5-HIAA caused increasing deprotonisation and a decrease in its capacity factor. The capacity factor of serotonin was not particularly affected in the tested pH range of 3 to 6, since its pK_a value is well above this range. Analogously, deprotonisation of the 5-HTP carboxylic function at higher pH resulted in the formation of a more polar zwitterion and thus reduction of the capacity factor in a reversed-phase system. Similar experiments have been described for other tryptophan-related indoles and other biogenic amines under different chromatographic conditions [113,114,119–121].

The concentrations of tryptophan-related indoles

in biological matrices range between pmol/ml to nmol/ml (Table 1). Consequently, simultaneous determination of all components requires a wide linear dynamic range of the employed detector. Sensitive and specific detection methods are required for the lower concentration ranges. Characteristic features of indoles are their easy oxidisibility (with the exception of tryptophan) and their native fluorescence properties. It is therefore not surprising that electrochemical and fluorometric detection have become the detection modes of choice. Most applications make use of electrochemical detection and either apply voltammetry or (array) coulometry. This detection mode combines high sensitivity and good precision even at very low solute concentrations. Selectivity can be influenced by variation of the electrochemical detection potential, reducing the demands on the sample prepurification. Since the working electrode is in direct contact with the test solution, it is difficult to maintain the electrode surface in a constantly activated state. Therefore suitable conditions for electrochemical measurement must be found for each application. This requires basic knowledge of electrochemistry and some experience [122]. Electrochemical detection requires a constant electrically conductive mobile phase. The choice of mobile phase composition is therefore limited, whereas gradient elution may result in variation of the background current. The potential regions of tryptophan and its metabolites are given in Fig. 3. For the major plasma 5-hydroxyindoles the oxidation potential is below 0.6 V. Tryptophan

Fig. 2. Chromatograms of body fluids and tissues from healthy persons and patients with carcinoid tumours, as obtained by HPLC with quaternary gradient elution and fluorescence detection (excitation wavelength 295 nm, emission wavelength 340 nm). Panel A: separation of 11 standard indoles [injected amounts: 8.3 ng each, except for NAS (6.9 ng), 5-HT (3.6 ng) and TAM (6.8 ng)]. Panels B: urinary indole profiles of a healthy adult (B1) and a patient with a midgut carcinoid (B2) obtained by direct injection of 20-µl aliquots of filtered urine samples that had been diluted to a creatinine concentration of 1 mmol/l. Calculated concentrations (for panels B1 and B2, respectively) in the urine samples were: 5-HTP: (16.2, 499.5) µmol/mol cr; TRP: (1.0, 1.5) mmol/mol cr; 5-HIAA: (0.5, 52.0) mmol/mol cr; 5-HTOL: (not detectable, 293.6) µmol/mol cr; 5-HT: (65.44, 871.2) µmol/mol cr. Panels C: indole profiles of C₁₈ prepurified platelet-rich plasma samples of a healthy adult (C1), and a patient with a midgut carcinoid (C2). Calculated concentrations (for panels C1 and C2, respectively) in the platelet-rich plasma samples were: TRP: (34.1, 8.2) µmol/l; 5-HIAA: (not detectable, 1.8) µmol/l; 5-HT: (0.7, 2.5) µmol/l. Panels D: Chromatograms of C₁₈ prepurified tissue homogenates from normal enterochromaffin tissue (D1) and carcinoid tissue of midgut origin (D2). On a wet weight basis the calculated levels of compounds (for panels D1 and D2, respectively) were: 5-HTP: (3.8, 2079.0) nmol/g; TRP: (11.6, 334.9) nmol/g; 5-HIAA: (5.0, 251.3) nmol/g; and 5-HT: (39.7, 6993.1) nmol/g. Peak identity numbers and abbreviations: 1=5-hydroxytryptophan (5-HTP), 2=tryptophan (TRP), 3=5-hydroxyindole-3-acetic acid (5-HIAA), 4=5-hydroxytryptophol (5-HTOL), 5=N-acetyl-5-hydroxytryptamine (NAS), 6=5-methoxytryptophan (5-MTP), 7=5-hydroxytryptamine (serotonin, 5-HT), 8=indole-3-acetic acid (IAA), 9=tryptophol (TOL), 10=melatonin (N-acetyl-5-methoxytryptamine, MEL), 11=tryptamine (TAM), cr=creatinine. (Reprinted from Ref. [112] with permission).



Fig. 3. Potential regions of the oxidation of tryptophan and its metabolites. Empty boxes: irreversible oxidation; shaded boxes: a reversible product is produced, which is not the principle oxidation product. Carbon-paste electrode, medium 90% 0.1 *M* citrate (pH 4.0) and 10% ethanol. Potential scan rate, 200 mV/s. 1=Indolepyruvic acid; 2=5,6-dihydroxytryptamine; 3=3-hydroxyanthranilic acid; 4=5-hydroxy-tryptophol; 5=3-hydroxykynurenine; 6=5-hydroxyindoleacetic acid; 7=*N*-acetyl-5-hydroxytryptamine; 8=5-hydroxytryptamine; 9=5-hydroxytryptophan; 10=indoxyl; 11=melatonin; 12=xanthurenic acid; 13=indoleacetic acid; 14=anthranilic acid; 15=*N*,*N*-dimethyltryptamine; 16=tryptamine; 17=tryptophan; 18=kynurenine. (Reprinted from Ref. [139] with permission of Bioanalytical Systems, West Lafayette, IN, USA).

oxidises at much higher potential of approximately 0.8 V. Combined electrochemical detection of TRP, 5-HT, serotonin and 5-HIAA may thus require a relatively high oxidation potential, which augments the risk of interference by other electrochemically active compounds. Combining two or more coulometric electrochemical cells into an array enables stepwise oxidation thus reducing the risk of interference and enabling compound identification and more sensitive detection [123,124]. For the electrochemical detection of indoles detection limit are in the picogram range, which is sufficient for detection of the most important plasma indoles.

Comparisons of detection limits of electrochemical and fluorometric methods do not always show consistent results in favour of one of these [125]. Nevertheless most users of electrochemical detection methods motivate their choice for this detection technique with the argument of sensitivity. An explanation for this discrepancy could be that the delineation of suitable conditions for electrochemical measurement requires specific knowledge of its principles [122]. Fluorometric detection is less demanding in this respect [84]. Indole derivatives can be detected fluorometrically using an excitation wavelength in the range of 280–320 nm and an emission between 300 and 370 nm [68,126]. Fluorescence may be affected by pH. For example, the emission wavelength of 5-HIAA at pH 7 is at 330 nm but amounts to 550 nm in strong acid without a change in excitation wavelength. The discrepancy is due to differences in degree of ionisation and a pH should preferably be selected at which virtually 100% of the analyte exists as a single species [126]. Methods combining fluorometric and electrochemical detection have been described [125], but seem unnecessarily complicated for the aim. Kai et al. [127] described a procedure, which employs fluorescence detection of indoles after derivatisation with 1,2-diphenylethylendiamine. This HPLC method permits the simultaneous quantification of serotonin and 5-HIAA at detection limits at sub-femtomole levels.

5.5. Biological variation, interpretation of data

Several factors can influence levels of indoles in plasma and other biological matrices. Platelet serotonin content was found to be age, but not gender dependent. Significant differences were observed between newborns and children or adults. Moreover platelet serotonin concentration in elderly subjects was significantly lower than in adults and children and significantly higher than in newborns [100]. No significant variation in platelet serotonin content was observed over a period of 24-h, nor was any difference found between levels established in different seasons [115]. Both free and total plasma tryptophan showed a circadian rhythm, with maximum values observed in the afternoon and minimum values at night [115].

Platelet serotonin content, plasma 5-HTP and 5-HIAA concentrations, and urinary serotonin and 5-HIAA concentrations are increased in the presence of serotonin producing carcinoid tumours [12,36]. Platelet serotonin proved a more sensitive marker for increased serotonin production by carcinoid tumours than urinary 5-HIAA. In cases with high serotonin secretion rate platelet serotonin reaches a maximum at approximately 50 nmol/10⁹ platelets, whereas urinary 5-HIAA does not [36]. Other neuroendocrine tumours and coeliac disease have been reported to give moderately increased platelet and plasma serotonin content, urinary serotonin and 5-HIAA excretion [12,128,129]. Increased platelet-poor plas-

ma serotonin concentrations have been found in several disease states such as preeclampsia [101] and type 1 diabetes [130]. Menstrual cycle dependency was found in a study of 20 healthy women [131]. A higher periovulatory and premenstrual concentration of serotonin was found in platelet-poor plasma. We investigated the relation between platelet serotonin contents and corresponding platelet-poor plasma serotonin in both healthy persons and carcinoid patients. Increased platelet serotonin content in these patients was accompanied by increased concentrations of serotonin in platelet-poor plasma [36]. Shortterm dietary intake of serotonin-containing foods did not influence platelet serotonin content, but increased the urinary excretion of both serotonin and 5-HIAA [27]. Increased platelet serotonin concentrations were found after prolonged intake of dietary serotonin [132] or ingestion of the pure amine for several days [37].

Significantly reduced platelet serotonin can be found in subjects using selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors [133]. Plasma tryptophan levels are dependent on dietary intake and have been found reduced in malabsorption syndromes [134], in several psychiatric disease states [135] and carcinoid disease. Cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) levels of indoles are dependent on dietary intake of tryptophan and are reduced in several neurodegenerative and psychiatric disease states [136]. Differences in concentrations were found between CSF from lumbar and ventricular origin, with higher concentrations in ventricular CSF [137].

6. Concluding remarks

The field of serotonin research is vast and rapidly expanding. The aim of the present review was to place the analysis of indoles in biological matrices in a biochemical, physiological and clinical context and to highlight several important steps in its chromatographic analysis and quantification. It can be concluded that developments in chromatographic analyses have moved the analysis of indoles away from the point at which they were considered complicated, cumbersome and sensitive to interference, to a position were they have become accessible to clinical chemical laboratories that are equipped with modern chromatographic facilities.

References

- [1] V. Ersparmer, Arch. F. Exp. Pathol. Pharm. 196 (1940) 366.
- [2] M.M. Rapport, A.A. Green, I.H. Page, J. Biol. Chem. 176 (1948) 1243.
- [3] V. Ersparmer, B. Asero, Nature 169 (1952) 800.
- [4] A. Sirek, O.V. Sirek, Can. Med. Assoc. J. 102 (1970) 864.
- [5] D.G. Grahame-Smith, Quart. J. Med. 67 (1988) 459.
- [6] C.R.J. Ruthven, M. Sandler, in: S.S. Brown, F.L. Mitchell, D.S. Young (Eds.), Chemical Diagnosis of Disease, Elsevier, Amsterdam, 1979, p. 1217.
- [7] G.M. Tyce, in: P.M. VanHoutte (Ed.), Serotonin and the Cardiovascular System, Raven Press, New York, 1985, p. 1.
- [8] J.F. Stoltz, in: P.M. VanHoutte (Ed.), Serotonin and the Cardiovascular System, Raven Press, New York, 1985, p. 37.
- [9] P. Hagen, Br. J. Pharmacol. 18 (1962) 175.[10] H. Ichinose, K. Kojima, A. Togari, Y. Kato, S. Parvez, H.
- Parvez, T. Nagatsu, Anal. Biochem. 150 (1985) 408.
- [11] J.A. Oates, A. Sjoerdsma, Am. J. Med. 32 (1962) 333.
- [12] J.M. Feldman, Clin. Chem. 32 (1986) 840.
- [13] M. Hamon, J. Glowinsky, Life Sci. 15 (1975) 1533.
- [14] W.J. Culley, R.N. Saunders, E.T. Mertz, D.H. Jolly, Proc. Soc. Exp. Biol. Med. 113 (1963) 645.
- [15] A.T.B. Moir, Br. J. Pharmacol. 43 (1971) 715.
- [16] W.M. Pardridge, Neurochem. Res. 5 (1998) 635.
- [17] J.E. Blundell, Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 55 (1992) 155S.
- [18] A.J. Mandel, S. Knapp, Fed. Proc. 36 (1977) 2142.
- [19] I.J. Kopin, Pharmacol. Rev. 37 (1985) 333.
- [20] V.G. Erwin, R.A. Deitrich, J. Biol. Chem. 241 (1966) 3533.
- [21] V.E. Davis, H. Brown, J.A. Huff, J.L. Cashaw, J. Lab. Clin. Med. 69 (1967) 132.
- [22] A. Helander, O. Beck, S. Borg, J. Chromatogr. 579 (1992) 340.
- [23] P.J.D. Snow, J.E. Lennard-Jones, G. Curzon, R.S. Stacey, Lancet ii (1955) 1004.
- [24] W.M. McIsaac, I.H. Page, Science 128 (1958) 537.
- [25] V.E. Davis, J.A. Huff, H. Brown, J. Lab. Clin. Med. 66 (1965) 390.
- [26] M.M. Airaksinen, Ann. Med. Exp. Biol. Fenniae 41 (1963) 1.
- [27] I.P. Kema, A.M.J. Schellings, G. Meiborg, C.J.M. Hoppenbrouwers, F.A.J. Muskiet, Clin. Chem. 38 (1992) 1730.
- [28] K.P. Minneman, R.J. Wurtman, Annu. Rev. Pharmacol. Toxicol. 16 (1976) 33.
- [29] K.M. Shaw, Adv. Drug. Res. 11 (1977) 75.
- [30] D.C. Klein, J.L. Weller, Science 169 (1970) 1093.
- [31] J. Axelrod, U. Weissbach, J. Biol. Chem. 236 (1961) 211.
- [32] G. Bertaccini, S. Chieppa, Lancet i (1960) 881.
- [33] M.J.G. Farthing, Scand. J. Gastroenterol. 26 (1991) 92.
- [34] S.M.O. Hourani, N.J. Cusak, Pharmacol. Rev. 43 (1991) 243.
- [35] A. Pletscher, Br. J. Pharmacol. Chemother. 32 (1968) 1.

- [36] I.P. Kema, E.G.E. de Vries, A.M.J. Schellings, P.E. Postmus, F.A.J. Muskiet, Clin. Chem. 38 (1992) 534.
- [37] K. Melmon, A. Sjoerdsma, Lancet ii (1963) 316.
- [38] A. Videbaek, B.E. Christensen, V. Jonsson, The Spleen in Health and Disease, FADL's Forlag, Chicago, IL, 1982.
- [39] G.V.R. Born, K. Juengjaroen, F. Michal, Br. J. Pharmacol. 44 (1972) 117.
- [40] N. Crawford, Clin. Chim. Acta 18 (1967) 297.
- [41] D.P. Thomas, J.R. Vane, Nature 216 (1967) 335.
- [42] T. Drapanas, J.C. McDonald, Surg. Gynecol. Obstet. 116 (1963) 481.
- [43] H. Ahlman, in: P.M. VanHoutte (Ed.), Serotonin and the Cardiovascular System, Raven Press, New York, 1985, p. 199.
- [44] P.N. Maton, J. Am. Med. Assoc. 260 (1988) 1602.
- [45] C.N. Gillis, in: P.M. VanHoutte (Ed.), Serotonin and the Cardiovascular System, Raven Press, New York, 1985, p. 199.
- [46] H.D. Mühlbauer, Pharmacopsychiatry 18 (1985) 218.
- [47] L.J. Siever, R.S. Kahn, B.A. Lawlor, R.L. Trestman, T.L. Lawrence, E.F. Coccaro, Pharmacol. Rev. 43 (1991) 509.
- [48] M.D. Gershon, H. Tamir, in: P.M. VanHoutte (Ed.), Serotonin and the Cardiovascular System, Raven Press, New York, 1985, p. 199.
- [49] S.J. Peroutka, J. Neurochem. 60 (1993) 408.
- [50] G.M. Halliday, P.C. Blumbergs, R.G. Cotton, W.W. Blessing, L.B. Geffen, Brain Res. 510 (1990) 104.
- [51] J.R. Seibold, in: P.M. VanHoutte (Ed.), Serotonin and the Cardiovascular System, Raven Press, New York, 1985, p. 189.
- [52] A.N. Wymenga, W.T.A. van der Graaf, I.P. Kema, E.G.E. de Vries, N.H. Mulder, Lancet 353 (1999) 293.
- [53] M.E. Caplin, J.R. Buscombe, A.J. Hilson, A.L. Jones, A.F. Watkinson, A.K. Burroughs, Lancet 352 (1998) 799.
- [54] A.G.E. Pearse, Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 9 (1980) 211.
- [55] C.G. Moertel, J. Clin. Oncol. 5 (1987) 1503.
- [56] E.D. Williams, M. Sandler, Lancet I (1963) 238.
- [57] J.A. Norton, J.L. Doppman, R.T. Jensen, in: V.T. DeVita, S. Hellman, S.A. Rosenberg (Eds.), Cancer, Principles and Practice of Oncology, 3rd ed., J.B. Lippincot, Philadelphia, PA, 1989, p. 1269.
- [58] J.S. Macdonald, in: V.T. DeVita, S. Hellman, S.A. Rosenberg (Eds.), Cancer, Principles and Practice of Oncology, 3rd ed., J.B. Lippincot, Philadelphia, PA, 1989, p. 1019.
- [59] Z. Davis, C.G. Moertel, D.C. McIlrath, Surg. Gynecol. Obstet. 137 (1973) 637.
- [60] J.A. Oates, New Engl. J. Med. 315 (1986) 702.
- [61] O.O. Mustala, M.M. Airaksinen, Acta Med. Scand. 171 (1962) 483.
- [62] J.M. Feldman, Metabolism 34 (1985) 255.
- [63] I.P. Kema, E.G.E. de Vries, M.J.H. Slooff, F.A.J. Muskiet, Proc. Am. Soc. Clin. Oncol. 12 (1993) 263.
- [64] I.P. Kema, E.G. E de Vries, M.J.H. Slooff, B. Biesma, F.A.J. Muskiet, Clin. Chem. 40 (1994) 86.
- [65] I. Norheim, K. Oberg, E. Theodorsson-Norheim, Ann. Surg. 206 (1987) 115.
- [66] J.M. Feldman, T.M. O'Dorisio, Am. J. Med. 81 (1986) 41.

- [67] L.J. Roberts, J.A. Oates, in: J.D. Wilson, D.W. Foster (Eds.), Williams Textbook of Endocrinology, Saunders, Philadelphia, PA, 1985, p. 1363.
- [68] G.M. Anderson, J.G. Young, Life Sci. 28 (1981) 507.
- [69] G.M. Anderson, Adv. Exp. Med. Biol. 294 (1991) 51.
- [70] K.H. Tachiki, M.H. Aprison, Anal. Chem. 47 (1975) 7.
- [71] D. Tonelli, E. Gattavecchia, M. Gandolfi, J. Chromatogr. 231 (1982) 283.
- [72] F. Engbaek, B. Voldby, Clin. Chem. 28 (1982) 624.
- [73] I. Hindberg, Scand. J. Clin. Lab. Invest. 44 (1984) 47.
- [74] J. Chauveau, V. Fert, A.M. Morel, M.A. Delaage, Clin. Chem. 37 (1991) 1178.
- [75] B.L. Goodwin, C.R.J. Ruthven, M.W. Weg, M. Sandler, Clin. Chim. Acta 62 (1975) 439.
- [76] S. Baba, M. Utoh, M. Horie, Y. Mori, J. Chromatogr. 307 (1984) 1.
- [77] M. Mumtaz, N. Narasimhachari, R.O. Friedel, G.N. Pandey, J.M. Davis, Res. Commun. Chem. Pathol. Pharmacol. 36 (1982) 45.
- [78] N. Narasimhachari, M.C. Boadle-Biber, R.O. Friedel, Res. Commun. Chem. Pathol. Pharmacol. 37 (1982) 413.
- [79] C.W. Tsang, C.L. Chan, P. Li, S.F. Pang, J. Chromatogr. B 682 (1996) 185.
- [80] P.S. Draganac, S.J. Steindel, W.G. Trawick, Clin. Chem. 26 (1980) 910.
- [81] G.M. Anderson, F.C. Feibel, D.J. Cohen, Life. Sci. 40 (1987) 1063.
- [82] P.T. Kissinger, C.S. Bruntlett, R.E. Shoup, Life Sci. 28 (1981) 455.
- [83] F. Artigas, E. Gelpi, J. Chromatogr. 394 (1987) 123.
- [84] P.M. Van Haard, S. Pavel, J. Chromatogr. 429 (1988) 59.
- [85] A.C. Deacon, Ann. Clin. Biochem. 31 (1994) 215.
- [86] A.M. Ho, E.S. Yeung, J. Chromatogr. A 817 (1998) 377.
- [87] M.L. Gostkowski, J. Wei, J.B. Shear, Anal. Biochem. 260 (1998) 244.
- [88] H.C. Tsai, C.W. Whang, Electrophoresis 20 (1999) 2533.
- [89] D.J. Anderson, Anal. Chem. 71 (1999) 314R.
- [90] D.D. Koch, P.T. Kissinger, Anal. Chem. 52 (1980) 27.
- [91] C.A. Palmerini, M.G. Cantelmi, A. Minelli, C. Fini, M. Zampino, A. Floridi, J. Chromatogr. 417 (1987) 378.
- [92] R.J. Slingerland, A.B. Van Kuilenburg, J.M. Bodlaender, H. Overmars, P.A. Voute, A.H. Van Gennip, J. Chromatogr. B 716 (1998) 65.
- [93] B. Takkenberg, E. Endert, H.E. van Ingen, M. Ackermans, J. Chromatogr. 565 (1991) 430.
- [94] T.J. Panholzer, J. Beyer, K. Lichtwald, Clin. Chem. 45 (1999) 262.
- [95] K. Thorre, M. Pravda, S. Sarre, G. Ebinger, Y. Michotte, J. Chromatogr. B 694 (1997) 297.
- [96] E.R. Korpi, Clin. Chem. 30 (1984) 487.
- [97] E. Pussard, N. Guigueno, O. Adam, J.F. Giudicelli, Clin. Chem. 42 (1996).
- [98] E.F. Marshall, M. Leitch, J. Chromatogr. B 655 (1994) 167.
- [99] G.M. Anderson, J.M. Stevenson, D.J. Cohen, Life Sci. 41 (1987) 1777.
- [100] E. Flachaire, C. Beney, A. Berthier, J. Salandre, C. Quincy, B. Renaud, Clin. Chem. 36 (1990) 2117.

- [101] C.M. Middelkoop, G.A. Dekker, A.A. Kraayenbrink, C. Popp-Snijders, Clin. Chem. 39 (1993) 1675.
- [102] M. Picard, D. Olichon, J. Gombert, J. Chromatogr. 341 (1985) 445.
- [103] X. Paez, L. Hernandez, J. Chromatogr. B 720 (1998) 33.
- [104] A.M. Castejon, X. Paez, L. Hernandez, L.X. Cubeddu, J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 291 (1999) 960.
- [105] D. Bogdanski, A. Pletscher, B. Brodi, S. Udenfriend, J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 117 (1956) 82.
- [106] E. Kwarts, J. Kwarts, H. Rutgers, Ann. Clin. Biochem. 21 (1984) 425.
- [107] J. Jouve, J. Martineau, N. Mariotte, C. Barthelemy, J.P. Muh, G. Lelord, J. Chromatogr. 378 (1986) 437.
- [108] I. Morita, T. Masujima, H. Yoshida, H. Imay, Anal. Biochem. 118 (1981) 142.
- [109] D. Tonelli, E. Gattavecchia, M. Gandolfi, J. Chromatogr. 231 (1982) 283.
- [110] P.P. Chou, P.K. Jaynes, J. Chromatogr. 341 (1985) 167.
- [111] I. Morita, M. Kawamoto, M. Hattori, K. Eguchi, K. Sekiba, H. Yoshida, J. Chromatogr. 526 (1990) 367.
- [112] I.P. Kema, A.M.J. Schellings, C.J.M. Hoppenbrouwers, H.M. Rutgers, E.G.E. de Vries, F.A.J. Muskiet, Clin. Chim. Acta 221 (1993) 143.
- [113] D. Afonso, M.A. Castellanos, M. Rodriguez, J. Chromatogr. 528 (1990) 101.
- [114] Y. Sagara, Y. Okatani, S. Yamanaka, T. Kiriyama, J. Chromatogr. 431 (1988) 170.
- [115] N. Eynard, E. Flachaire, C. Lestra, M. Broyer, R. Zaidan, B. Claustrat, C. Quincy, Clin. Chem. 39 (1993) 2337.
- [116] M.S. Lee, F.C. Cheng, H. Z Yeh, T.Y. Liou, J.H. Liu, Clin. Chem. 46 (2000) 422.
- [117] A.P. Graffeo, B.L. Karger, Clin. Chem. 22 (1976) 184.
- [118] R.B. Mailman, C.D. Kilts, Clin. Chem. 31 (1985) 1849.
- [119] M.H. Mills, D.C. Finlay, P.R. Haddad, J. Chromatogr. 564 (1991) 93.
- [120] T. Harumi, H. Akutsu, S. Matsushima, J. Chromatogr. B 675 (1996) 152.
- [121] Y.H. Yi, W.P. Liao, X. Lu, J. Chromatogr. B 661 (1994) 143.
- [122] K. Stulic, V. Pacakova, in: A.M. Krstulovic (Ed.), Quantitative Analysis of Catecholamines and Related Compounds, Ellis Horwood (Wiley), Chichester, 1986, p. 137.
- [123] J.C. Alvarez, D. Bothua, I. Collignon, C. Advenier, O. Spreux-Varoquaux, Biomed. Chromatogr. 13 (1999) 293.
- [124] F. Mashige, Y. Matsushima, C. Miyata, R. Yamada, H. Kanazawa, I. Sakuma, N. Takai, N. Shinozuka, A. Ohkubo, K. Nakahara, Biomed. Chromatogr. 9 (1995) 221.
- [125] J.R. Chin, J. Chromatogr. 528 (1990) 111.
- [126] G.B. Baker, in: G.B. Baker, R.T. Coutts (Eds.), Evaluation of Analytical Methods in Biological Systems. Part A: Analysis of Biogenic Amines, Elsevier, Amsterdam, 1982, p. 65.
- [127] M. Kai, H. Iida, H. Nohta, M.K. Lee, K. Ohta, J. Chromatogr. B 720 (1998) 25.
- [128] A.J. Cleare, J. Keating, J. Ealing, R.A. Sherwood, Ann. Clin. Biochem. 34 (1997) 440.
- [129] K. Sjolund, A. Nobin, Scand. J. Gastroenterol. 20 (1985) 304.

- [130] P.H. Winocour, P. Klimiuk, A. Grennan, R.D. Baker, C. Weinkove, Ann. Clin. Biochem. 27 (1990) 238.
- [131] I. Hindberg, O. Naesh, Clin. Chem. 38 (1992) 2087.
- [132] R. Xiao, O. Beck, P. Hjemdahl, Scand. J. Clin. Lab. Invest. 58 (1998) 505.
- [133] M. Narayan, G. Anderson, J. Cellar, R.T. Mallison, L.H. Price, J.C. Nelson, J. Clin. Psychopharmacol. 18 (1998) 67.
- [134] R. Abu-Qurshin, J.E. Naschitz, E. Zuckerman, E. Nash, S. Eldar, D. Yeshurun, Am. J. Med. Sci. 313 (1997) 111.
- [135] F.G. Moeller, D.M. Doegherty, A.C. Swann, C.M. Davis, D.R. Cherek, Psychopharmacology 126 (1996) 97.
- [136] G.M. Anderson, I.N. Mefford, T.J. Tolliver, M.A. Riddle, D.M. Ocame, J.F. Leckman, D.J. Cohen, Life Sci. 46 (1990) 247.
- [137] M. Koskiniemi, J. Laakso, T. Kuurne, M. Laipio, M. Harkonen, Acta Neurol. Scand. 71 (1985) 127.
- [138] A. Gironi, G. Seghieri, M. Niccolai, P. Mammini, Clin. Chem. 34 (1998) 2504.
- [139] W. Jacobs, Tryptophan Metabolites in Brain Tissue by LCEC, Current Separations, Vol. 2, Bioanalytical Systems, West Laffayette, IN, October 1980, No. 2.